IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

KEYON DASHAWN HARRISON
Defendant-Appellant

SUPREME COURT NO. 16-1998

POLK COUNTY No. FECR285476

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE PAUL SCOTT

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MATTHEW G. SEASE
KEMP & SEASE
The Rumely Building
104 SW 4th Street, Suite A
Des Moines, Iowa 50309
Phone: (515) 883-2222
Fax: (515) 883-2233
msease@kempsease.com
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. WHETHER THE FELONY-MURDER RULE VIOLATES DUE PROCESS WHEN APPLIED TO JUVENILES

Cases

Connecticut v. Johnson, 460 U.S. 73 (1983)
Conner v. Director of Div. of Adult Corrections, State of Iowa, 870 F.2d 1384 (1989)
Conner v. State, 362 N.W.2d 449 (Iowa 1985)
Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (2010)
In re Detention of Hodges, 689 N.W.2d 467 (Iowa 2006)
In Re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970)
J.D.B. v. North Carolina, 564 U.S. 261 (2011)
Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002)
Metz v. Amoco Oil Co., 581 N.W.2d 597 (Iowa 1998)
Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. ----, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012)
Montgomery v. Louisiana, 577 U.S. ----, 136 S.Ct. 718 (2016)
More v. State, 880 N.W.2d 487 (Iowa 2016)
Morissette v. United States, 342 U.S. 246 (1952)
Mullaney v. Wilbur 421 U.S. 684 (1975)
Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005)
Sandstrom v. Montana, 442 U.S. 510 (1979)
State v. Heemstra, 721 N.W.2d 549 (Iowa 2006)
State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378 (Iowa 2014)
State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41 (Iowa 2013)
State v. Ragland, 836 N.W.2d 107 (Iowa 2013)
State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127 (Iowa 2017)
State v. Seats, 856 N.W.2d 545 (Iowa 2015)
State v. Sweet, 897 N.W.2d 811 (Iowa 2016)
State v. Tribble, 790 N.W.2d 121 (Iowa 2010)
State v. Tucker, 810 N.W.2d 519 (Iowa App. 2012)

Statutes

Iowa Code § 707.2

Other Authorities

- Alison Burton, Note, *A Commonsense Conclusion: Creating a Juvenile Carve Out to the Massachusetts Felony Murder Rule*, 50 Harv. C.R.-C.L. L. Rev 169 (2017)
- Cara H. Drinan, *The Miller Revolution*, 101 Iowa L. Rev. 1787 (2016)
- Elizabeth S. Scott & Laurence Steinberg, *rethinking Juvenile Justice* 34 (2008)
- Erin H. Flynn, Comment, *Dismantling the Felony-Murder Rule: Juvenile Deterrence and Retribution Post- Roper v. Simmons*, 156 U. Pa. L. Rev. 1049 (2008)
- Erwin S. Barbre, Annotation, *What Felonies are Inherently or Foreseeably Dangerous to Human Life for Purposes of Felony-Murder Doctrine*, 50 A.L.R.3d 397 (1973)
- Nelson E. Roth & Scott E. Sundby, *Felony-Murder Rule a Doctrine at Constitutional Crossroads*, 70 Cornell L. Rev. 446 (1985)
- Steven A. Drizin & Allison McGowen Keegan, *Abolishing the Use of the Felony-Murder Rule when the Defendant is a Teenager*, 28 Nova L. Rev. 507 (2004)

II. WHETHER THE IMPOSITION OF A LIFE SENTENCE IS CRUEL AND UNUSUAL WHEN SENTENCING A JUVENILE FOLLOWING A CONVICTION OF FELONY MURDER

Cases

- In re Detention of Hodges*, 689 N.W.2d 467 (Iowa 2006)
- Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002)
- Metz v. Amoco Oil Co.*, 581 N.W.2d 597 (Iowa 1998)
- State v. Bruegger*, 773 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009)
- State v. Heemstra*, 721 N.W.2d 549 (Iowa 2006)
- State v. Lyle*, 854 N.W.2d 378 (Iowa 2014)
- State v. Null*, 836 N.W.2d 41 (Iowa 2013)
- State v. Roby*, 897 N.W.2d 127 (Iowa 2017)
- State v. Tribble*, 790 N.W.2d 121 (Iowa 2010)

Statutes

Iowa Code § 707.2

Other Authorities

Alison Burton, Note, *A Commonsense Conclusion: Creating a Juvenile Carve Out to the Massachusetts Felony Murder Rule*, 50 Harv. C.R.-C.L. L. Rev 169 (2017)

Erin H. Flynn, Comment, *Dismantling the Felony-Murder Rule: Juvenile Deterrence and Retribution Post- Roper v. Simmons*, 156 U. Pa. L. Rev. 1049 (2008)

Steven A. Drizin & Allison McGowen Keegan, *Abolishing the Use of the Felony-Murder Rule when the Defendant is a Teenager*, 28 Nova L. Rev. 507 (2004)

III. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY REGARDING THE FELONY MURDER RULE

Cases

Alcala v. Marriott Intern., Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 2016)

Anderson v. State, 692 N.W.2d 360, (Iowa 2005)

Anderson v. Webster City Cmty. Sch. Dist., 620 N.W.2d 263 (Iowa 2000)

Deboom v. Raining Rose, Inc., 772 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2009)

Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002)

Metz v. Amoco Oil Co., 581 N.W.2d 597 (Iowa 1998)

IV. WHETHER HARRISON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN HIS COUNSEL FAILED TO REQUEST AN INDEPENDENT ACT INSTRUCTION CONSISTENT WITH *STATE V. HEEMSTRA*

Cases

Bowman v. State, 710 N.W.2d 200 (Iowa 2006)

Goosman v. State, 764 N.W.2d 539 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Bearse, 748 N.W.2d 211 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Heemstra, 721 N.W.2d 549 (Iowa 2006)

State v. McCoy, 2016 WL 3269458 (Iowa Ct. App.)

State v. Millbrook, 788 N.W.2d 647 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Ondayog, 722 N.W.2d 778 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Pollard, 2015 WL 405835 (Iowa Ct. App.)

State v. Ross, 845 N.W.2d 692 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Tribble, 790 N.W.2d 121 (Iowa 2010)

Statutes

Iowa Code § 707.2

V. WHETHER HARRISON RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DUE TO HIS COUNSEL’S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO CERTAIN EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL

Cases

Adams v. State, 531 S.W.2d 626 (Tex. Crim. App. 1976)

Bowman v. State, 710 N.W.2d 200 (Iowa 2006)

Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004)

State v. Bearnse, 748 N.W.2d 211 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Carter, 847 S.W.2d 941 (Mo. Ct. App. 1993)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Kennedy, 846 N.W.2d 517 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Lucas, 323 N.W.2d 228 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Ondayog, 722 N.W.2d 778 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Scott, 619 N.W.2d 371 (Iowa 2000)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Iowa Supreme Court should retain jurisdiction in this appeal. This case present substantial constitutional questions regarding the applicability of the felony murder rule to juveniles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(a). Additionally, the issues in this case raise a “substantial issue of first impression,” which also presents a fundamental and urgent issue of broad public importance requiring prompt or ultimate determination by the Supreme Court.” Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c), (d). Additionally, the applicability of adult criminal laws to juveniles is a rapidly evolving area of legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(f). As such, the Supreme Court should retain jurisdiction in this matter.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is an appeal by Keyon Dashawn Harrison (“Harrison”) following a conviction of murder in the first degree. Following an approximately four (4) day jury trial, a jury eventually returned a unanimous guilty verdict, finding Harrison guilty of the charge of Murder in the first degree in violation of Iowa §§ 707.1 and 707.2(1)(b) (Felony Murder). Harrison was subsequently sentenced to Life with the Possibility of Parole.

Course of the Proceedings

On June 10, 2015, by way of trial information, the State of Iowa charged Keyon Harrison (“Harrison”) with Murder in the First Degree in violation of Iowa Code §§ 707.1 and 707.2 and Robbery in the First Degree in violation of Iowa Code §§ 711.1 and 711.2. (APP-001, Trial Information). On June 15, 2015, Harrison filed a written arraignment and plea of Not Guilty as to all charges. (APP-027, Written Arraignment). After several continuances, Harrison’s jury trial was set for October 3, 2016. (APP-030, Order Continuing Trial).

Prior to the trial, the State of Iowa sought a pretrial ruling on several evidentiary issues pursuant to Iowa R. Evid. 5.104. (APP-033, 5.104 Motion). Harrison’s attorneys did not object to several of the items and the trial eventually commenced as scheduled on October 3, 2016. (Tr. Individual Voir Dire P. 1). Before the presentation of any evidence, but after the trial had begun, the State amended the trial information and dropped the charge of Robbery in the First Degree and instead pursued a claim based solely upon Murder in the First Degree. (APP-050, Amended Trial Information). Additionally, during the course of the trial, the State eventually dismissed the premeditation Murder in the First Degree charge and solely presented the jury with Murder in the First Degree based upon the Felony-Murder Rule. (APP-052, Jury Instructions). After several days of testimony, the

jury returned a guilty verdict of Murder in the First Degree. (APP-093, Return of Verdict).

Following the verdict, Harrison's counsel filed a motion in arrest of judgment and a motion for a new trial. (APP-099, Motion in Arrest of Judgment; APP-095, Motion for a New Trial). The State of Iowa resisted both motions. (APP-097, Resistance to Motions). The motions were set for a hearing at the time of Harrison's sentencing on November 22, 2016 (APP-102, Order Setting Hearing). The district court denied Harrison's motion in arrest of judgment and motion for a new trial and sentenced Harrison to Life with the Possibility of Parole. (APP-105, Sentencing Order; Tr. Sentencing P. 30-34). Harrison filed a timely notice of appeal on November 22, 2016. (APP-108, Notice of Appeal).

Statement of the Facts

On the afternoon of November 7, 2014, several neighbors in the 2600 block of Hickman Lane, in Des Moines, Iowa heard five repeated gunshots. (Tr. Trial Day 1 P. 24-25; Tr. Trial Day 1 P. 77-81; Tr. Trial Day 2, 14-16). Prior to hearing gunshots, one neighbor, Jorge Gutierrez witnessed a black male sitting by himself on a retaining wall in the dead end of Hickman Lane and another black male and a white male walking nearby, about half a block away near Hickman Road. (Tr. Trial Day 2, 9-12). Eventually Mr. Gutierrez observed the white male and black male begin to shove each other. (Tr. Trial Day 2 P. 13-14). Shortly after seeing the

shoving between the black male and white male, Mr. Gutierrez went inside and heard the gun shots. (Tr. Trial Day 2 P. 14-15). Mr. Gutierrez then saw the two black males running away and saw the white male laying motionless on the ground. (Tr. Trial Day 2 P. 15-16). Other neighbors did not see the shoving, but after hearing the gunshots, several observed two black males running from the scene. (Tr. Trial Day 1 P. 80; Tr. Trial Day 1 P. 25).

The white male was eventually identified as Aaron McHenry, as one of his friends and roommates arrived at the scene and provided his identification card and were able to identify a tattoo. (Tr. Trial Day 1 P. 48-53). After reviewing the cellular phone located on the victim, it was determined that Mr. McHenry was attempting to sell marijuana to another individual and that they were supposed to meet at the nearby Family Dollar to complete the transaction. (Tr. P. 53, APP-120, Exhibit 30). On Mr. McHenry's person, the police were able to locate marijuana residue in Mr. McHenry's pockets. (Tr. Trial Day 3 P. 11-12). According to testimony from the investigating detectives, this is indicative of marijuana being stolen from the person. (Tr. Trial Day 3 P. 11-12).

The investigating officers were eventually able to piece together several of the events of the day to establish that before Mr. McHenry's death Harrison and Collins were together. (Tr. Trial Day 3 P. 30-31). They were then able to view Harrison at a liquor store before the shooting. (Tr. Trial Day 3 P. 31). Then after the shooting,

it was determined that Harrison and Collins were at Broadlawns Hospital. (Tr. Trial Day 3 P. 31). After leaving the hospital, Harrison and Collins left with Harrison's girlfriend to go to her house. (Tr. Trial Day 2 91-93). On the way back from the hospital, Harrison was observed holding two bags of marijuana the size of a baseball. (Tr. Trial Day 2 P. 92-93). When the group returned to Harrison's girlfriend's house, Harrison and Collins smoked some of the marijuana. (Tr. Trial Day 2, P. 93).

Meanwhile, back at the scene, one of the neighbors was eventually able to identify one of the black males that may have been involved in the shooting. Patricia DePatten thought the individual looked like someone from her school and bared a slight resemblance to a famous rapper. (Tr. Trial Day 1 P. 83-84). Based on that information, Des Moines Police Officers contacted the Hoover High School Resource Officer and found two individuals who fit the description. (Tr. Trial Day 1 P. 108). Patricia DePatten was then shown two separate photo arrays and was able to positively identify Keith Collins as one of the individuals involved. (Tr. Trial Day 1 P. 88-89). Another witness was also able to positively identify Keith Collins from the Photo Array (APP , Shirley Dick Testimony P. 372-373).

Based upon the information obtained at the scene, Des Moines Police eventually executed a search warrant on Keith Collins apartment. (Tr. Trial Day 2 P. 38-39). At Keith Collins apartment they found Harrison along with another female and a small child. (Tr. Trial Day 2 P. 41-42). Located on Harrison's person

was a small amount of marijuana. (Tr. Trial Day 2 P. 42). No gun or ammunition were located on Harrison's person or in the apartment. (Tr. Trial Day 1 P. 128-129). However, Harrison was taken into custody and questioned by officers. (Tr. Trial Day 3 P. 28-29). After being questioned by officers, it is reported that Harrison was talking with his mother and Harrison stated that Harrison knew Keith Collins was going to hit a "lick." (Tr. Trial Day 3 P. 32-33). According to the Detective working the case, a "lick" means to perform a robbery or rip them off. (Tr. Trial Day 3 P. 32-33).

During the course of the investigation it was determined that Keith Collins' phone was used on several occasions to communicate with Mr. McHenry in an attempt to purchase marijuana. (Tr. Trial Day 3 P. 13-14). This included conversations shortly before the murder. (Tr. Trial Day 3 P. 13-14; APP-119-125, Exhibit 29-35). Additionally, Mr. McHenry's phone number was listed as "Lick" in Collins' phone. (Tr. Trial Day 3 P. 85; APP-115, Exhibit 25). Based upon this information, Harrison and Collins were eventually charged with Murder in the First Degree. (APP-001, Trial Information).

Many additional relevant facts are discussed within the Argument section, *infra*.

ARGUMENT

I. THE FELONY MURDER RULE IS FUNDAMENTALLY UNFAIR AS APPLIED TO JUVENILES

Preservation of Error

The applicability of the felony murder rule to juveniles was raised and presented before the district court. As such, error was preserved on this issue. *See Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002) (“It is a fundamental doctrine of appellate review that issues must ordinarily be both raised and decided by the district court before we will decide them on appeal.” (citing *Metz v. Amoco Oil Co.*, 581 N.W.2d 597, 600 (Iowa 1998))).

Standard of Review

“When a violation of a constitutional right is claimed, the standard of review is de novo.” *In re Detention of Hodges*, 689 N.W.2d 467 (Iowa 2006).

Discussion

Despite no evidence that Harrison knew a murder was going to happen, no evidence that Harrison had a dangerous weapon on his person, no evidence that Collins had a weapon on his person, no evidence that Harrison pulled a trigger and no evidence that Harrison killed any individual, Harrison was convicted of murder in the first degree. In this case, Harrison requests that this Court hold that the felony murder rule is inapplicable to juveniles such as Harrison.

A. The Felony-Murder Rule

Iowa Code § 707.2 (1) states that “[a] person commits murder in the first degree when the person commits murder under any of the following circumstances:...(b) The person kills another person while participating in a forcible felony.” This is known as the felony murder rule. “The felony-murder rule began as a common-law doctrine of criminal law that any death resulting from the commission or attempted commission of a felony constitutes murder.” *State v. Tribble*, 790 N.W.2d 121, 124 (Iowa 2010). Through Iowa Code § 707.2 (1), Iowa’s felony murder rule has been limited to only those felonies classified as “forcible.” *Id.* at 125. Iowa Code § 702.11 defines “forcible felonies” as “any felonious child endangerment, assault, murder, sexual abuse, kidnapping, robbery, human trafficking, arson in the first degree, or burglary in the first degree.”

The rationale of the felony-murder rule is that certain crimes are so inherently dangerous that proof of participating in these crimes may obviate the need for showing all of the elements normally required for first-degree murder. This reduced quantum of proof in establishing first-degree murder has caused the felony-murder doctrine to be called “[o]ne of the most controversial doctrines in the field of criminal law...” Erwin S. Barbre, Annotation, *What Felonies are Inherently or Foreseeably Dangerous to Human Life for Purposes of Felony-Murder Doctrine*, 50 A.L.R.3d 397, 399 (1973).

State v. Heemstra, 721 N.W.2d 549, 554 (Iowa 2006); see also Nelson E. Roth & Scott E. Sundby, *Felony-Murder Rule a Doctrine at Constitutional Crossroads*, 70

Cornell L. Rev. 446 (1985) (herein after “Roth & Sundby”). The criticism of the felony murder rule has grown louder when applied to juveniles. *See generally*, Erin H. Flynn, Comment, *Dismantling the Felony-Murder Rule: Juvenile Deterrence and Retribution Post- Roper v. Simmons*, 156 U. Pa. L. Rev. 1049 (2008); Alison Burton, Note, *A Commonsense Conclusion: Creating a Juvenile Carve Out to the Massachusetts Felony Murder Rule*, 50 Harv. C.R.-C.L. L. Rev 169 (2017); Steven A. Drizin & Allison McGowen Keegan, *Abolishing the Use of the Felony-Murder Rule when the Defendant is a Teenager*, 28 Nova L. Rev. 507 (2004).

B. Juveniles are Different

Beginning with the United States Supreme Court decision in *Roper v. Simmons*, a major change in the jurisprudential landscape has occurred regarding juvenile culpability and social standards. 543 U.S. 551 (2005). In *Roper*, the United States Supreme Court found that based upon the trends of the various states and the overwhelming scientific authority, it was a violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution to sentence a juvenile to death. *Id.* at 568-575. The United States Supreme Court followed this logic in many other juvenile cases that came after *Roper* was decided. *See Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48 (2010) (holding life without parole is unconstitutional for non-homicide offenses); *J.D.B. v. North Carolina*, 564 U.S. 261 (2011) (holding age is a factor in the Miranda/custodial interrogation analysis); *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. ----, 132

S.Ct. 2455 (2012) (holding life without the possibility of parole for all juveniles for any offense is unconstitutional); *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 577 U.S. ----, 136 S.Ct. 718 (2016) (holding *Miller* applied retroactively); *see also* Cara H. Drinan, *The Miller Revolution*, 101 Iowa L. Rev. 1787 (2016).

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