IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 16–1998

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

KEYON DASHAWN HARRISON,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HON. PAUL SCOTT, JUDGE

APPELLEE’S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

LOUIS S. SLOVEN
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
Louie.Sloven@iowa.gov

JOHN P. SARCONI
Polk County Attorney

JEFF NOBLE & SHANNON ARCHER
Assistant Polk County Attorneys

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

See Sweet, 879 N.W.2d at 846 (Mansfield, J., dissenting) (“Society may want to punish a horrendous murder beyond the time necessary to rehabilitate the murderer.”); *State v. Makuey*, No. 16–0162, 2017 WL 1735626, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. May 3, 2017) (“Few, if any, criminal acts are more deserving of the maximum penalty that can be imposed than causing the death of another fellow human being.”). Harrison’s youth-related diminished culpability rules out LWOP, but it does not excuse his conduct or render retributive imperatives inapplicable.

Because of juveniles' diminished sensitivity to risks and/or potential adverse consequences, and because felony murder liability is not limited to foreseeable killings, deterrence is less relevant here. But incapacitation and rehabilitation take center stage, especially when Harrison claims that uncontrollable youth-related impulses led him to aid and abet this killing while participating in this armed robbery. *See* Def's Br. at 11, 20. The Iowa Constitution bars our courts from sentencing Harrison to LWOP based on as-yet-premature findings of "irretrievable corruption"—but Harrison's willing participation in this robbery-turned-killing shows his *present* dangerousness and demands indefinite incapacitation pending his maturation and rehabilitation. "Nothing that the [U.S.] Supreme Court has said in these cases" or that the Iowa Supreme Court has said in its divergent line of cases "suggests trial courts are not to consider protecting public safety in appropriate cases through imposition of significant prison terms." *Null*, 836 N.W.2d at 75. Accordingly, because there are legitimate penological justifications for this punishment *beyond* just retribution, this Court should refuse to override the legislature's judgment as to the proper absolute minimum punishment for juveniles convicted of felony murder, and it should reject Harrison's categorical challenge.

This categorical challenge is also foreclosed by *Louisell*, where the Iowa Supreme Court severed unconstitutional portions of the prior version of section 902.1. *See State v. Louisell*, 865 N.W.2d 590, 599–601 (Iowa 2015). After concluding that it was unconstitutional to sentence every juvenile convicted of a Class A felony to a life term with a 25-year mandatory minimum before parole eligibility, the court severed that unconstitutional provision from the sentencing statute—but it left the mandatory *indeterminate* life sentence intact, which meant it was not “constitutionally infirm.” *See id.* Indeed, *Louisell* noted this was “consistent with prevailing constitutional principles for first-degree murder,” and it rejected calls to vest sentencing courts with discretion to substitute a definite term-of-years sentence for the indefinite life sentence because doing so would have undermined “[t]he legislative purpose of prescribing the most severe sentences for offenders convicted of murder in the first degree—including juveniles.” *See id.* at 600–01. Just like in *Louisell*, this Court should reject any claim that Article I, Section 17 requires that Harrison be sentenced to something more lenient than life in prison with immediate eligibility for parole. Thus, Harrison’s categorical challenge is foreclosed by both legitimate penological goals and by *Louisell*, and it must be rejected.

B. Harrison’s as-applied challenge does not attempt to grapple with the moral depravity of his actions.

Determining whether a sentence is grossly disproportionate to the defendant’s crime requires application of the three-step test set out in *Solem v. Helm*, 463 U.S. 277, 290-92 (1983). The first step is to weigh the gravity of the offense and the harshness of the penalty to determine if they raise “an inference of gross disproportionality.” See *Oliver*, 812 N.W.2d at 649–50. That step is a “threshold inquiry”—without an inference of gross disproportionality, “we need not proceed to steps two and three of the analysis, the intrajurisdictional and interjurisdictional comparisons.” *Id.* at 653 (citing *Bruegger*, 773 N.W.2d at 873). Harrison cannot make this threshold showing.

The preliminary threshold analysis “involves a balancing of the gravity of the crime against the severity of the sentence.” *Bruegger*, 773 N.W.2d at 873 (citing *Solem*, 463 U.S. at 291). This step of the *Solem* test proves fatal to almost all gross disproportionality claims—“it is rare that a sentence will be so grossly disproportionate to the crime as to satisfy the threshold inquiry and warrant further review.” *Oliver*, 812 N.W.2d at 650 (citing *State v. Musser*, 712 N.W.2d 734, 749 (Iowa 2006); see also *Bruegger*, 773 N.W.2d at 873). Certainly, this will never happen when the crime leaves an innocent man dead.

Harrison claims his sentence fits into the *Bruegger* mold, where “defendants who commit acts of lesser culpability within the scope of broad criminal statutes carrying stiff penalties should be able to launch an as-applied cruel and unusual punishment challenge.” *See* Def’s Br. at 22 (quoting *Bruegger*, 773 N.W.2d at 884). But he cannot establish any “unusual combination of features that converge to generate a high risk of potential gross disproportionality” in this particular case. *See Bruegger*, 773 N.W.2d at 884. Felony murder is not broad enough to encompass “acts of lesser culpability”—in every felony murder case, participation in a forcible felony directly leads to a victim’s death, and Harrison committed such a killing as a principal or aider and abettor. *See id.*; *see also* Jury Instr. 17, 21; App. 69, 73. And this case does not involve use of juvenile adjudications, prior convictions, or other sentencing enhancements. *See Bruegger*, 773 N.W.2d at 885. Harrison received the *minimum* permissible sentence for an unenhanced crime, at the intersection of the gravest possible harm to another, with malice aforethought, during participation in *another* forcible felony offense. Iowa courts have never sustained a gross disproportionality challenge to an indeterminate sentence for felony murder, and likely never will. *See, e.g., State v. Rhode*, 503 N.W.2d 27, 41 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993).

Even if a juvenile convicted of felony murder could establish that his/her forcible felony was “inane juvenile schoolyard conduct,” *Harrison’s* forcible felony was “cold and calculated adult conduct” that warrants indefinite incarceration. *See Lyle*, 854 N.W.2d at 401. Harrison escorted his prey to where Collins was waiting, armed with a gun and ready to rob him. Harrison still disputes the inference that he knew Collins had a gun, but he *admitted* the plan was to rob McHenry. *See State’s Ex. 146*. They could not have planned a robbery without some basis for believing they could credibly intimidate McHenry (especially when they had no way of knowing if *McHenry* was armed). And then, after Collins shot McHenry, Harrison accepted half of the ill-gotten gains and spent the remainder of the evening with Collins, apparently unperturbed by McHenry’s death. TrialTr.V2 p.85,ln.21–p.95,ln.15; Ct.Ex.B p.5,ln.18–p.15,ln.10; Ct.Ex.B p.17,ln.5–p.18,ln.2. Harrison’s present claim that he thought they would rob McHenry without a dangerous weapon deserves no more consideration than Harrison gave McHenry’s family during his allocution at sentencing. *See Sent.Tr. p.42,ln.6–24*; *cf. State v. Knight*, 701 N.W.2d 83, 88 (Iowa 2005) (“[A] defendant’s lack of remorse is highly pertinent to evaluating his need for rehabilitation and his likelihood of reoffending.”).

“[T]he fixing of prison terms for specific crimes involves a substantive penological judgment that, as a general matter, is ‘properly within the province of legislatures, not courts.’” *Harmelin v. Michigan*, 501 U.S. 957, 998 (1991) (Kennedy, J., concurring) (quoting *Rummel v. Estelle*, 445 U.S. 263, 275–76 (1980)). Under Article I, Section 17 of the Iowa Constitution, courts “owe substantial deference to the penalties the legislature has established for various crimes.” *See Oliver*, 812 N.W.2d at 650. Harrison has failed to overcome that deference to legislatively prescribed punishments; as such, he has failed to raise any tenable inference of gross disproportionality and his as-applied challenge to his sentence warrants no further analysis. *See id.* at 653 (citing *Bruegger*, 773 N.W.2d at 873).

Even if Harrison could advance to the intrajurisdictional and interjurisdictional analyses, his claim would fail. No felony murder in Iowa is punished more leniently than Harrison’s, nor should one be. *See Iowa Code §§ 707.2, 902.1; cf. Makuey*, 2017 WL 1735626, at *3. And, as discussed above, there is no interjurisdictional consensus against sentencing juvenile murderers to life in prison with immediate parole eligibility. *See, e.g., Conley*, 972 N.E.2d at 877–80 & n.3. Thus, this as-applied challenge can never establish gross disproportionality.

III. Harrison Was Not Entitled to a Jury Instruction to Eliminate Third-Degree Robbery as a Potential Predicate Felony.

Preservation of Error

Harrison’s counsel did object to the felony murder instruction—but that objection exclusively concerned the “juveniles are different” argument in Division I. *See* TrialTr.V4 p.11,ln.13–p.30,ln.1. There was no specific objection to the jury instruction defining robbery, apart from the same “juveniles are different” objection raised before. *See* TrialTr.V4 p.31,ln.7–10. Harrison’s counsel maintained this decision not to object at trial was deliberate. *See* Sent.Tr. p.22,ln.1–p.24,ln.13.

Harrison argues error was preserved when he raised this issue in his motion in arrest of judgment. *See* Def’s Br. at 23 (citing Motion in Arrest of Judgment (11/17/16); App. 99). But that was too late to give the trial court an opportunity to correct the alleged error and submit a modified jury instruction. “[O]bjections to giving or failing to give jury instructions are waived on direct appeal if not raised before counsel’s closing arguments.” *State v. Fountain*, 786 N.W.2d 260, 262–63 (Iowa 2010). “[I]t is fundamentally unfair to fault the trial court for failing to rule correctly on an issue it was never given the opportunity to consider.” *State v. Pearson*, 876 N.W.2d 200, 205

(Iowa 2016) (quoting *DeVoss v. State*, 648 N.W.2d 56, 60 (Iowa 2002)). And it would be “fundamentally unfair” if Harrison were permitted to “await the verdict, which might have acquitted him, before alerting the trial court of his complaint.” *See State v. Jackson*, 397 N.W.2d 512, 514 (Iowa 1986). That is the type of “ambush” that Iowa’s error preservation rules are intended to prevent. *See DeVoss*, 648 N.W.2d at 63; *see also State v. Traywick*, 468 N.W.2d 452, 455 (Iowa 1991) (“The defendant cannot await the jury verdict and then raise an issue of which he was aware from the beginning.”). Error was not preserved for this claim; this Court should not consider it.

Harrison does not urge consideration of this issue under an ineffective-assistance rubric. He cannot do so for the first time in his reply brief. *See State v. Embree*, No. 14–0709, 2015 WL 9450466, at *8 n.1 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 23, 2015) (citing *State v. Carroll*, 767 N.W.2d 638, 644 (Iowa 2009)).

Standard of Review

“Alleged errors in the submission or refusal to submit jury instructions are reviewed for correction of errors at law.” *State v. Tipton*, 897 N.W.2d 653, 694 (Iowa 2017) (citing *Alcala v. Marriott Int’l, Inc.*, 880 N.W.2d 699, 707 (Iowa 2016)).

Merits

Harrison argues the jury should have been instructed that, if he only participated in a simple assault, then he committed third-degree robbery—which is a misdemeanor, and cannot support felony murder. *See* Def’s Br. at 24–26. But third-degree robbery was codified in 2016, and did not exist when Harrison and Collins killed McHenry in 2014. *See* Iowa Code § 711.3A (2016).

Section 4.13 would apply if, prior to sentencing, the legislature reduced the applicable punishment for a crime Harrison committed. *See* Iowa Code § 4.13(2). But Harrison wants a robbery he committed in 2014 to be reclassified from a felony to a misdemeanor by a statute enacted in 2016. “[S]ection 4.13 is not that broad. It gives a defendant the benefit of a more lenient sentence; it does not require that the characterization of the crime of which he is convicted be changed.” *State v. Chrisman*, 514 N.W.2d 57, 63 (Iowa 1994) (citing *State ex rel. Abrogast v. Mohn*, 260 S.E.2d 820, 823 (W. Va. 1979)). Harrison was not entitled to an instruction differentiating between felony robbery and misdemeanor robbery, because this crime was committed when all robberies were felonies and misdemeanor robbery did not exist. Criminal offenses are not subject to ex post facto recategorization.

Even if Harrison were entitled to such an instruction, he could not prevail on this claim. “Errors in jury instructions are presumed prejudicial unless the record affirmatively establishes there was no prejudice.” *State v. Ambrose*, 861 N.W.2d 550, 554 (Iowa 2015) (quoting *Asher v. Ob-Gyn Specialists, P.C.*, 846 N.W.2d 492, 496 (Iowa 2014)). Here, the jury affirmatively found McHenry was shot to death during commission of a robbery, in which Harrison participated. *See* Jury Instr. 21; App. 73. The trial court agreed that any error was undoubtedly harmless “based on the fact that the facts of this case clearly showed a firearm was involved, that a shooting was involved,” and that McHenry was killed. *See* Sent.Tr. p.30,ln.25–p.32,ln.3. There is no room to speculate that the jury might have viewed this as a robbery committed through a simple misdemeanor assault, given its other findings. *E.g.*, *State v. Seiler*, 342 N.W.2d 264, 268 (Iowa 1983) (“Because this jury could not have failed to find the intentional infliction of physical injury which would necessarily trigger a finding of first-degree burglary, the erroneous jury instruction did not constitute reversible error.”). Thus, even if error were preserved on this claim and even if Harrison were entitled to such an instruction, there would still be no cause to vacate this conviction.

IV. Harrison’s Trial Counsel Was Not Ineffective for Failing to Challenge the Use of Felony Robbery as a Predicate Felony Under *Heemstra*.

Preservation of Error

Again, Harrison’s objection to the felony murder instruction exclusively concerned the “juveniles are different” argument. *See* TrialTr.V4 p.11,ln.13–p.30,ln.1. This *Heemstra* argument was also not present in Harrison’s motion in arrest of judgment and was never ruled upon below; thus, error was not preserved. *Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012).

Harrison raises this claim under an ineffective-assistance rubric. *See* Def’s Br. at 26. Iowa appellate courts are permitted to address these claims on direct appeal “when the record is sufficient to permit a ruling.” *See State v. Wills*, 696 N.W.2d 20, 22 (Iowa 2005) (citing *State v. Artzer*, 609 N.W.2d 526, 531 (Iowa 2000)). The State believes the record is sufficient to resolve this purely legal claim.

Standard of Review

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